
City Council Meeting 
Special Session Agenda 
Tuesday, January 8, 2019 
7:00 P.M. 

Meeting called to order by the Mayor 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance  

1. Consent Agenda:
a. Approval of Minutes – December 4, 2018 Regular Session
b. Approval of Minutes – December 12, 2018 Special Session
c. Tax Releases & Refunds
d. Appoint Nicki Grafos Smith to the Historical Museum Advisory Board with a term to expire

June 30, 2021

2. Downtown Small Area Plan:
a. Approve Contract with Toole Design Group

3. Main Street Program Discussion

4. Public Private Partnership (P3) – East Interstate Road Development:
a. Approve Resolution Adopting Statement of Critical Need to Enter into A Public-Private

Partnership to Develop a Spec Building On City-Owned Property in The City of Graham,
North Carolina

5. Order to Demolish:
a. Approve Ordinance to Demolish vacant house located at 323 Albright Avenue

6. Review City Attorney Proposals

7. Issues Not on Tonight’s Agenda

Page 1 of 101 Page 1 of 101



103 

 CITY OF GRAHAM 
REGULAR SESSION 

TUESDAY, DECEMBER 4, 2018 
7:00 P.M. 

 
The City Council of the City of Graham met in regular session at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, December 4, 
2018, in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Building located at 201 South Main Street. 
 
Council Members Present:   Also Present: 
Mayor Jerry Peterman    Frankie Maness, City Manager 
Mayor Pro Tem Lee Kimrey   Aaron Holland, Assistant City Manager  
Council Member Griffin McClure  Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 
Council Member Chip Turner   Keith Whited, City Attorney 
Council Member Melody Wiggins  Nathan Page, Planning Director   
      Jeff Prichard, Police Chief 
   
Mayor Jerry Peterman called the meeting to order and presided at 7:00 p.m.  Council Member Griffin 
McClure gave the invocation and everyone stood to recite the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Consent Agenda: 

a. Approval of Minutes – November 6, 2018 Regular Session 
b. Tax Releases  

 

Page 2 of 101 Page 2 of 101



104 

 c. Appoint Christina Taylor to the Appearance Commission with a term to expire June 30, 
2021 

d. Approve Rescheduling the January 1, 2019 Regular Session City Council Meeting to 7:00 
p.m. on Tuesday, January 8, 2019 

e. Approve Amended Audit Contract with Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King, LLP 
 

Mayor Peterman asked if anyone would like to pull any items from the Consent Agenda.  Mayor Pro 
Tem Lee Kimrey asked to pull item “e”.  Council Member Chip Turner made a motion to approve 
items “a”, “b”, “c” and “d”, seconded by Council Member Melody Wiggins.  All voted in favor of 
the motion. 

Mayor Pro Tem Kimrey asked City Manager Frankie Maness why the audit contract needs to be 
amended.  Mr. Maness advised the current audit contract stipulates that the audit must be completed 
by October 31, 2018.  He added that the City, like others, is experiencing a delay in finalizing the 
auditing process due to a delay in receiving the City’s GASB Statement No. 75 Report of the City’s 
Health Care Plan.  Mayor Pro Tem Kimrey made a motion to approve item “e”, seconded by 
Council Member McClure.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Recommendations from Planning Board: 

a. Public Hearing: Sizemore (RZ1807). Request by Joseph Sizemore to rezone property 
located at 105 West Moore Street/133 South Main Street from R-12 Residential District to 
B-2 General Business (GPIN# 8883264486, 8883265642, 8883267292, 8883268103, 
8883263268, 8883267360, 8883264112, 8883265184) 

Mr. Page advised that this property is surrounded by two development types; Business District (general 
business) B-2 and R-12 Residential District (medium density).  This request is to rezone all of these 
properties from R-12 to B-2.  He added that several of the lots are currently undeveloped and three 
of the parcels are occupied by single family homes. 

Following a brief discussion between Council Members and staff regarding a couple of the parcels 
being split zoned, Mayor Peterman opened the Public Hearing.   

Mr. Joseph Sizemore of 5648 Mt. Hermon Rock Creek Road Snow Camp stepped forward to answer 
questions Council may have.  With no questions forthcoming, Mayor Peterman closed the Public 
Hearing. 

Mayor Pro Tem Kimrey made a motion that the application be approved, the application is consistent 
with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this action is reasonable and in the public 
interest for the following reason: The quantity of vehicle traffic of the Highway 87 corridor as well as 
the Future Land Use Map suggest that commercial uses may be better suited to this site than 
residential.  Council Member Wiggins seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the motion.   

 

City Attorney Succession Discussion: 

Mayor Peterman advised that City Attorney Keith Whited has informed the City that he will be 
stepping down from his position effective February 28, 2019.   

Page 3 of 101 Page 3 of 101



105 

 Council and staff spent a great deal of time discussing what, if any, changes need to be made to the 
current agreement with the City Attorney position.  Staff was in agreement that they would never turn 
down an agreement which includes more hours.  Mr. Maness advised that ultimately it is the Council’s 
decision to determine what level of service they want for the City.  Mayor Peterman asked City Clerk 
Darcy Sperry to create a Doodle Poll to find a date and time suitable for all to hold a special meeting 
by which Council can set the parameters for a search.  He asked Mr. Maness to compile data for what 
other municipalities our size are currently doing.  Lastly, he asked Council Members to start thinking 
of questions to ask perspective applicants.     

 

Issues Not on Tonight’s Agenda: 

Mr. Whited apologized for putting Council through the search for a new City Attorney at this time. 

Council Member Wiggins recognized the staff of Recreation & Parks, Police and Fire Departments 
for an outstanding job done on the Christmas Parade and festivities this past weekend. 

Mayor Pro Tem Kimrey thanked Mr. Whited for his service to the City and stated it was his honor to 
have worked with him. 

Mr. Maness informed those attending the Community Leaders breakfast at Alamance Community 
College on December 5, 2018 that carpooling would be available. 

Mayor Peterman recognized and thanked those who worked on the Veteran’s Day Parade. 

At 7:50 p.m. Mayor Pro Tem Kimrey made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Council Member 
Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 
 

_____________________________ 
      Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 

 

Page 4 of 101 Page 4 of 101



106 

 CITY OF GRAHAM 
SPECIAL SESSION 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 12, 2018 
10:00 A.M. 

 
The City Council of the City of Graham met in special session at 10:00 a.m. on Wednesday, December 
12, 2018, in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Building located at 201 South Main Street. 
 
Council Members Present:   Also Present: 
Mayor Jerry Peterman    Frankie Maness, City Manager 
Mayor Pro Tem Lee Kimrey   Aaron Holland, Assistant City Manager  
Council Member Griffin McClure  Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 
Council Member Chip Turner   Keith Whited, City Attorney 
Council Member Melody Wiggins         
   
   
Mayor Jerry Peterman called the meeting to order and presided at 10:00 a.m.   
 
City Attorney Succession Plan: 

Mayor Peterman informed those in attendance that this meeting was to discuss the parameters of the 
search for a new City Attorney.  He asked City Manager Frankie Maness for a brief background of the 
state statute pertaining to City Attorney’s.  Mr. Maness read the state statute as well as the language 
included in the City’s charter. 

Council and staff spent time discussing the current needs of the City while being mindful of future 
needs.  Consideration was given to keeping the same arrangement as the City has now, increasing the 
number of hours included in the arrangement or contracting legal services.  Mr. Maness advised that 
the City is prepared to do whatever the Council wishes, but stated that he would prefer a fixed cost 
arrangement. 

By consensus, Council agreed the best way to proceed would be via a Request for Proposals and 
Qualifications from firms or individuals.  Mayor Peterman recessed the meeting at 10:41 a.m. so that 
Mr. Maness could draft a proposal that could be voted on at this meeting.  At 11:02 a.m., Mayor 
Peterman reconvened the meeting. 

Council Members read, briefly discussed and made changes to the proposed draft.  The proposal 
includes a minimum of 16 hours of legal services based at City Hall per week and a fixed annual 
contract price.  Council Member Melody Wiggins made a motion to accept this terminology as our 
advertisement for the City Attorney, seconded by Council Member Griffin McClure.  All voted in 
favor of the motion. 

At 11:08 a.m. Council Member Chip Turner made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem 
Lee Kimrey.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 
 

_____________________________ 
      Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 

Page 5 of 101 Page 5 of 101



Page 6 of 101 Page 6 of 101



Page 7 of 101 Page 7 of 101



Page 8 of 101 Page 8 of 101



Page 9 of 101 Page 9 of 101



Page 10 of 101 Page 10 of 101



Page 11 of 101 Page 11 of 101



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: DOWNTOWN SMALL AREA PLAN 

PREPARED BY: NATHAN PAGE, PLANNING DIRECTOR 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Approve the contract with Toole Design Group for the Downtown Small Area Plan. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

In their 2018/2019 budget year, the Graham City Council funded their match portion of a Small Area Plan. While 
Graham allocated $50,000, BGMPO and NCDOT also submitted $50,000 to this plan bringing the total budget to 
$150,000. In September, the City released a Request for Qualifications to the NCPLAN listserv, as well as on our 
website. Out of a total of 11 responses, staff narrowed the pool to three interviewees. Subsequent to the 
interviews, staff recommended Toole Design Group as the preferred design firm.  

The Small Area Plan will allow the City of Graham to inventory our downtown infrastructure and create estimates 
for renewing the lifespan of the sewer, water, and stormwater infrastructure. At the same time, we anticipate 
looking at potential updates to the streetscape, street trees, parking, and transportation. 

FISCAL IMPACT :  

The City of Graham has already budgeted their portion of the funds for this plan. However, it is likely that the 
outcome will have cost estimates for expensive underground infrastructure, some of which has been in service 
beyond what can be assumed to be a reasonable lifecycle. For example the fire suppression system downtown 
which is hooked to a waterline which is at least 100 years old.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

Approval. Infrastructure underground in the downtown is in need of evaluation and potentially replacement in the 
near term. This plan will help us spend the least amount of money with the largest impact. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S):  

I move we approve the contract with Toole Design Group for our Downtown Small Area Plan. 

Page 12 of 101 Page 12 of 101



December 7, 2018 
 
Nathan Page, City Planner 
City of Graham, NC 
201 South Main Street 
PO BOX Drawer 357 
Graham, NC 27253 
 
RE: Graham Downtown Master Plan Summary Scope and Fee 
 
Dear Mr. Page, 

Thank you for the opportunity to interview and further discuss this critical project for the legacy of Downtown 
Graham. We enjoyed visiting with you and the entire selection committee to present Toole Design’s “People First” 

approach to downtown redevelopment, focusing on the public realm and what the City of Graham can control. Per 
your request, a summary scope and fee of our proposed process is included below. We are happy to provide 
greater detail, if desired. Based on our discussions with City staff during the interview, we have refined the task 
order and deliverables from our original proposal to better meet your needs and budget. 

PROPOSED SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Task 1: Project Management and Kick-Off Meeting 
▪ Kick-Off Meeting 
▪ Coordination 

Task 2: Survey Main Street and Downtown 
▪ Land Survey/Utility Survey/Right-of-Way Survey  

o Main Street from Interstate 40 to Market Street and Downtown Project Study Area 
o Ensure Accurate Planning and Conceptual Design to Tee Up Recommendations for Implementation 

Task 3: Inventory and Analysis 
▪ Site-Walk with Staff and Key Stakeholders  
▪ Inventory of:  

o Physical Characteristics o Streets 
o Existing Facilities o Transportation 
o Streetscape Elements o Key Properties/Sites 

Task 4: Public Participation and Visioning Workshop 
▪ Stakeholder Group (Graham and Alamance County Tourism, NCDOT, Parks and Recreation, Community 

College, Duke Energy, Alamance Arts, Historical Society, etc.)  
▪ Public Open House and Pop-Up Events  
▪ Two Part Workshop – Visioning Workshop & Design Workshop 

Page 13 of 101 Page 13 of 101



Task 5: Downtown Master Plan Recommendations 
▪ Focus on at a Minimum: 

o Retention of Small Town Atmosphere o Improved Connectivity 
o Enhance Historic Nature o Visioning for Catalyst Sites/Buildings 
o Court Square o Regulatory Review and Recommendations 
o Great Streets Solutions o Stormwater and Utility Placement 
o Streetscape Guidelines o Phasing, Cost Estimates, and Implementation 
o Pedestrian Plazas, Pocket Parks, 

and Alleyway Activation 

Task 6: Hwy 86 Corridor Study 
▪ Interstate 40 to Market Street 
▪ Focus on at a Minimum: 

o Rendered Concept Design o Streetscape and Multimodal Transportation 
o Intersection Improvements  o Gateway Treatments 
o Wayfinding Guidance o Design Overlay Recommendations 

Task 7: Stormwater and Utility Additional Services 
▪ Inventory – Geolocate and Photos 
▪ Inlet Location Analysis 
▪ Capacity Analysis for Catalyst Sites and Existing Conditions 
▪ Outfall Analysis 
▪ Sewer Capacity Study for areas of Development and areas with known deficiencies 

Summary Lump Sum Fee Proposal 

Task Fee 

Task 1 Project Management and Kick-Off Meeting $4,600.00 

Task 2 Survey Main Street and Downtown $20,000.00 

Task 3 Inventory and Analysis $4,000.00 

Task 4 Public Participation and Visioning Workshop $33,500.00 

Task 5 Downtown Master Plan Recommendations $44,300.00 

Task 6 Hwy 86 Corridor Study $30,000.00 

Task 7 Stormwater and Utility Additional Services $13,600.00 

 Total Lump Sum Cost* $150,000.00 

* Lump sum cost is inclusive of labor, overhead, profit, and expenses. 

Thank you for your consideration of Toole Design for this extremely important project. If you have any questions 
or comments, please do not hesitate to call or email me at 864.336.2276 x178 or clambka@tooledesign.com. 

Sincerely, 

Christopher Lambka | Senior Landscape Architect I Associate 
TOOLE DESIGN 
  

Page 14 of 101 Page 14 of 101



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: MAIN STREET PROGRAM DISCUSSION 

PREPARED BY: MARY FAUCETTE, DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR & ALEXA 
POWELL, PLANNER 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Discuss the North Carolina Main Street & Rural Planning Center’s program 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

Since the NC Main Street program began in 1980, participating communities have experienced tremendous economic 
success with over 2.5 billion in public/private investment, a net gain of over 22,400 full and part-time jobs, 5,833 building 
renovations, and a net gain of 5,570 businesses. Statewide, there are currently 90 active communities participating in this 
program including: Burlington, Elon, Fuquay-Varina, Morganton, and Wilson to name a few. 

In 2015, the NC Department of Commerce, Main Street and Rural Planning Center, created the Downtown Associate 
Community (DAC) program as a pre-requisite to becoming a North Carolina Main Street. The DAC program is designed to 
better prepare communities and is based on the National Main Street Center’s downtown revitalization model founded on 
the philosophy of “economic development within the context of historic preservation.”  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Undetermined.  The City shall commit a minimum of $5,000 annually for up to three years when making an application to 
the Downtown Associate Community program.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff’s recommendation is to continue researching the Downtown Associate Community program.  Continued research 
includes data collection to support a future application to the program depending on the Council’s interest in moving 
forward with this opportunity. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to direct City Staff to continue research into the Downtown Community Associate (DAC) program and collect data to 
support a future application. 

Page 15 of 101 Page 15 of 101



 

 

 

 

 

Benefits and Requirements of the Downtown Associate Community Program  

Benefits of the Program. 

o Partnership with the NC Main Street and Rural Planning Center: 

 North Carolina cities are selected through a competitive process to participate in the DAC 

program therefore; 

 Selected communities become partners with the North Carolina Department of Commerce, Rural 

Economic Development Division, and the NC Main Street & Rural Planning Center in a long-

term economic development effort that has a proven positive impact on investment and job 

creation. 

 Downtown Associate Community programs (DAC) are limited in number and therefore receive 

focused and personal attention from the Center’s staff. 

 Investment: The State of North Carolina invests approximately $50,000 in on-site visits, training 

and technical assistance within the first three years of participation in a local DAC program. After 

the initial start-up phase, the community may be eligible to move up to the Main Street program 

for continued assistance. 

o Training: 

 Selected communities are eligible to attend and participate in the NC Main Street Conference, 

Main Street Basic Training, Board and Committee Training, Main Street Orientation, Main Street 

Managers’ Meetings and Bi-Annual Regional Meetings. 

o Technical Assistance: 

 The North Carolina Main Street and Rural Planning Center’s staff guides selected communities 

through: 

o Identifying community assets 

o Identifying economic drivers 

o Stakeholder and Partner identification 

o Strength, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats 

o A Vision Forum leading to creating an organizational structure to implement a downtown 

vision, downtown economic implementation strategies and downtown implementation 

plans. 

o Volunteer development 

o Provides guidance and support to communities on ways to find and develop financial 

resources 

 Extensive experience: The NC Main Street & Rural Planning Center has extensive experience in 

organizational development and nonprofit management, architecture, historic preservation, 

planning, building rehabilitation, investment tax credits, incentive programs, marketing, image 

and special event development. Also in communications and a range of other pertinent areas.  

Page 16 of 101 Page 16 of 101



 Staff is among the nation’s leading authorities on downtown development. 

 The NC Main Street & Rural Planning Center’s staff conducts an annual program assessment 

including collecting of statistical data for review and analysis. 

o Network: 

 Participating DAC programs are able to take advantage of and participate in a special network of 

Main Street cities statewide from which they learn best practices, techniques and strategies for 

downtown development and share and receive information through our Main Street listserv. 

Requirements of the Program: 

The designee of the Downtown Associate Community (DAC) program is the local city or town 

government. The Chief elected official is notified of this selection. A town or city government determines 

who will administer the Downtown Associate Community program at the local level and communicates 

that information to the NC Main Street and Rural Planning Center.  

The following outlines the requirements that all applicants must understand before completing this 

application. 

1. The applicant must be an incorporated North Carolina municipality with an identifiable, 

traditional downtown business district. This typically means a central business district with 

contiguous buildings and a mix of retail and service businesses. 

2. A certified population of less than 50,000 as reported by the NC Office of State Budget and 

Management: https://ncosbm.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/demog/muniestbymuni_2015.html  

3. If selected, the applicant must sign an annual agreement with the NC Main Street & Rural 

Planning Center, for a period of up to three years, outlining the following requirements and/or 

agreements for partnership in the Downtown Associate Community (DAC) program with the 

Center.  

a. Participate in all services provided by the NC Main Street & Rural Planning Center when 

staff is in town. 

b. Designate a DAC program coordinator (paid or volunteer) dedicated to the downtown for 

a minimum of 20 hours/week who will coordinate and facilitate the work of the program. 

c. The DAC program must be designated as either a department of the local municipal 

government or obtain a 501(c) non-profit status. 

d. Establish strong broad-based support for the commercial district revitalization process 

from both the public and private sectors. 

e. Establish and maintain an active Board of Directors or an Advisory Board (if a city/town 

designated program) and Committees using the Main Street Four-Point Approach®. 

f. Establish an annual work plan/planning process for downtown. 

g. Adopt and exhibit a historic preservation ethic and design management program. 

h. Demonstrate an established vision for downtown and a mission that defines the role of 

the organization that will manage the downtown initiative. 

i. DAC program coordinator must attend training including, but not limited to: Main Street 

Basic Training, Main Street Manager’s Meeting, annual NC Main Street Conference, bi-

annual regional meetings. 

j. Fund the DAC program through both public and private partnerships at a level allowing 

for full operation of the program, based on the adopted work plan. 

k. Submit on time annual statistical data, budget and salary information and program 

assessment reports as requested by the Center. 

Page 17 of 101 Page 17 of 101

https://ncosbm.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/demog/muniestbymuni_2015.html


l. Maintain an annual membership with the National Main Street Center at the Standard 

Level. IF community moves up to Main Street designation the level goes up to 

Designated Level.  

m. Reimbursement of the NC Main Street & Rural Planning Center’s travel expenses at the 

IRS rate plus meals at the state per diem rate. 

n. Must meet the requirements of the Main Street program by the end of year three in order 

to move up to Main Street® designation. Participating communities operating a DAC 

program that may move more quickly through the strategic planning process will be 

considered for full Main Street designation in less than three years. 

o. Until a DAC community is officially designated as a Main Street® community they are 

prohibited from using the Main Street logo or calling themselves a Main Street® 

community. Being designated comes with specific rights and privileges that are not 

granted to DAC programs.  

p. DAC programs are not eligible to nominate projects for NC Main Street or Small Town 

Main Street awards and are not eligible to nominate Main Street Champions until they 

move up to full NC Main Street designation nor can DAC programs apply for Main 

Street Solutions Fund grants unless they meet the definition of a micropolitan (10,000-

50,000 in population), per legislative language for the Main Street Solutions Fund. In 

addition, DAC programs are not eligible for Downtown Redevelopment Funds. 

4. An applicant’s community selection to the Downtown Associate Community program is 

predicated upon: 

a. An understanding and a basic acceptance of the Main Street® philosophy, “economic 

development within the context of historic preservation.”  

b. A commitment from city/town officials and staff to a long-term and incremental 

revitalization program and the willingness to implement the Main Street Four-Point 

Approach®: organization, promotion, design and economic vitality. 

c. Demonstration that the community has the ability to move to Main Street® designation 

and meet the requirements within three years of selection into the Downtown Associate 

program. 

d. Interest and commitment from private and public sectors both financially and 

organizationally. 

e. Evidence of past and present economic development efforts in particular the downtown 

district. 

f. Indications of private or public reinvestment in downtown within the last five years or 

intent to do so in the near future. 

g. The need for and value of the Downtown Associate Community Program to your 

community. 

h. Presence of both intact historical and architectural resources and of cultural resource 

features or special qualities in particular within the downtown district. These would 

include, but not be limited to: architecturally significant buildings, homes, historical sites, 

culturally or historically significant events that had an impact on your community and are 

so noted with monuments, markers or sites dedicated to these events within your 

community. 

i. The City Council signing the attached Resolution to Participate in the Downtown 

Associate Community program if selected. 
 

 

Page 18 of 101 Page 18 of 101



 

 STAFF REPORT 

 

REQUESTED ACTION:   

Discuss developing an industrial spec building on a City-owned parcel located on E. Interstate Rd. in Graham through a 
Public Private Partnership (P3). Consider adopting the critical need statement to begin the P3 process. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

In 2009, the City of Graham acquired a 5.5 Acre parcel of land on 
E. Interstate Rd. in Graham. Thus far, the City has about $335,000 
invested in the property.  The tax value of the property is currently 
listed at $250,000 and has been on the market for nine years. 
Since putting the property up for sale, the City has received only 
one offer in the amount of $175,000 in 2014 for the property to 
be used for surface parking. City Council rejected this offer as the 
price was well below market value. Given the lack of interest in 
the property in its current form, the City of Graham has an 
opportunity to try a different approach.  

In order to realize the full value of the property on E. Interstate 
Rd. the City of Graham may wish to consider developing an 
industrial spec building on the site through a Public Private Partnership (P3). Developing an industrial building on this 
property is a proactive approach with the potential to deliver long-term financial, strategic, and economic community 
benefits in line with the goals of the 2035 Comprehensive Plan.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Undetermined. The total cost of the project will not be known until after the development agreement has been signed with 
the developer selected through the Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process. Through the P3 process the developer would 
be required to contribute at least 50% of the total project cost.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.   

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to adopt the Resolution Adopting Statement of Critical Need to Enter into a Public-Private Partnership to Develop a 
Spec Building on City-Owned Property in The City of Graham, North Carolina. 

SUBJECT: PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP (P3) – E. INTERSTATE RD. DEVELOPMENT 

PREPARED BY: ALEXA POWELL, PLANNER 

Page 19 of 101 Page 19 of 101



RESOLUTION ADOPTING STATEMENT OF CRITICAL NEED TO ENTER INTO A PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP TO 
DEVELOP A SPEC BUILDING ON CITY-OWNED PROPERTY IN THE CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA 

 

Whereas, a 5.5 Acre industrial parcel located at East Interstate Road, Graham NC (GPIN: 8884402904), is owned 
by the City of Graham; and 

Whereas, the General Assembly of North Carolina has authorized local municipalities to enter into Public Private 
Partnerships (P3) and otherwise has sanctioned appropriations for economic development purposes by the 
passage of HB 857 G.S. 143-64.31 and G.S. 158-7.1; and 

Whereas, economic development within the City of Graham is a critical public purpose, the City Council 
recognizes a need to develop the above industrial parcel, in order to support the economic well-being of the 
community, attract new business prospects, maximize the use of existing public infrastructure, monetize 
underutilized public assets, increase the tax base, attract jobs, diversify the economy, and demonstrate 
sustainable growth; and   

Whereas, it is determined by North Carolina Department of Commerce officials that a very high percentage of 
companies which consider locating in the State initially require an existing building as one of the criteria for 
localities which they will consider; and 

Whereas, the City Council has chosen to enter into a Public Private Partnership instead of a traditional Design-
Bid-Build method for the construction of the project in order to accelerate the timeline, maximize project cost-
efficiency, share the financial risk, and engage technical experts to handle the complexities of this project; and  

Whereas, the development of the above parcel is consistent with the adopted 2035 Comprehensive Plan and is 
in the public interest to diversify the local economy; and  

Whereas, the Graham City Council has made a recommendation to pursue drafting language to publish a 
Request for Qualifications (RFQ) to enter into a Public-Private Partnership in order to develop an industrial 
building on the above property for the purpose of economic development; and 

Adopted this, the 8th day of January, 2019 by the City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina. 

 

________________________________ 

Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

________________________________ 

Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

 

Page 20 of 101 Page 20 of 101



Additional Materials 

What is a Public-Private Partnership? 

In 2013, the North Carolina General Assembly passed HB 857 authorizing local municipalities to enter into Public Private 
Partnerships (P3), an alternative procurement method, in which a government agency partners with a private-sector 
developer to achieve a key public objective. A public-private project is defined under G.S. 143-128.1C as a “capital 
improvement project undertaken for the benefit of a government entity and private developer pursuant to a development 
contract that includes construction of a public facility or other improvements including paving, grading, utilities, 
infrastructure, reconstruction, or repair and may include both public and private facilities.” One important advantage of the 
P3 project delivery method is the private developer must contribute at least 50% of the financing for the total cost 
necessary to deliver the capital improvement project and by sharing the expense the City limits its financial risk.  

Public-Private Partnership Steps  

In terms of the process there are a few steps involved in creating a Public Private Partnership (P3). To begin the P3 process, 
the City of Graham must make written findings that it has a critical need for the Project. After approving the use of the P3 
method, the City of Graham determines its programing requirements for the facilities to be constructed under the P3 
contract which forms the basis of the Request for Qualifications (RFQ).  

The City then publishes an RFQ in which applicants must submit evidence of financial stability, experience with similar 
projects, project team selection, and a statement of availability along with a project timeline for completion. State statute 
requires government agencies to “select firms qualified to provide [design-build services and public-private partnership 
construction services] on the basis of demonstrated competence and qualification for the type of professional services 
required without regard to fee other than unit price information and thereafter to negotiate a contract for those services at 
a fair and reasonable fee with the best qualified firm”. The City evaluates the responses and may negotiate with one or 
more respondents during the evaluation process.  

After evaluation the City may award the development contract to the private developer it determines is best qualified and 
must publish the terms of the contract with at least 30 days of public notice prior to review by the City Council to approve 
the contract. At a minimum the Development Contract must address: 

1) Property interests of the City and the Private Developer  
2) Development responsibilities of the City and the Private Developer 
3) Financing responsibilities (Private Developer must contribute at least 50% of total project cost) 
4) The Developer makes good faith efforts to comply with Historically Underutilized Businesses (HUB) 

participation requirements 

Once the contract has been signed the developer is then responsible for the design and buildout of the project thru to 
completion.  

Comparable Properties 

By comparison, another property in the area with an existing 65,000 sq. ft. industrial building is currently on the market. 
The combined land and building tax appraised value of this comparable property is $1.1 Million. The property owners are 
asking $1.47 Million or $370,000 above the tax appraised value. Presumably the presence of a building on the lot is 
increasing the valuation and thus is commanding a premium in this market.  

 

Page 21 of 101 Page 21 of 101



Public-Private Partnership Steps  

 

 

Project Delivery Models

 

 

 

1. Written Findings of 
Critical Need

2. Determine Facility 
Requirements 3. Publish RFQ

4.Evaluate/Negotiate 
Proposals 5. Award Contract 6. Begin Design/Build 

Process

Page 22 of 101 Page 22 of 101



Reasons to Consider  

This project has the potential to help the City in terms of liquidating a public asset, providing for future economic 
development, and achieving several of the goals outlined in the Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan.  

Financial 

The first reason for consideration of this proposal is financial. There is a lack of interest in the city-owned property in its 
current form. Developing an industrial building on the city-owned property has the potential to increase the property’s 
marketability as well as fair market value and help the City realize a stronger return on investment.  

According to the North Carolina Department of Commerce a very high percentage of companies which consider locating in 
the State initially require an existing building as one of the criteria for localities which they will consider. Therefore, having a 
business-ready building to market to potential buyers may substantially increase the City’s ability to monetize this asset and 
return it to the tax books as an income producing property.  

Growth – Economic Development 

Further, initiating the development of an industrial building on this property has the potential to provide for future 
economic growth. This project demonstrates leadership to the development community by modeling the land use efficiency 
the City of Graham wants to encourage in order to maximize the use of public infrastructure. Once built the project has the 
potential to attract a new employer to the area diversifying the job market and providing new employment opportunities 
for citizens. 

Consistent with 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

Finally, this project would help the City of Graham achieve several of the goals identified in the 2035 Comprehensive Plan 
including: 

 

Policy 2.1.7 Partnerships 

Graham will continue to develop opportunities for public-private partnerships to coordinate investment strategies and 
nurture leadership in the community. 

Strategy 2.3.2 Prepare Development Strategies for Interchange Areas 

Prepare and implement strategies to promote business development around the City’s three interstate interchanges. 

Strategy 2.4.2 Promote Industrial Redevelopment 

Encourage reinvestment and intensification at existing industrial sites. Encourage redevelopment of existing buildings and 
infrastructure for industrial growth. 

Strategy 2.4.3 Freight Corridors 

Encourage freight-oriented industrial development to locate where it can maximize access to major freight routes, including 
I-40/85 and state highways 

Page 23 of 101 Page 23 of 101



Other P3 Examples 

Dorchester County Public/Private Speculative 
Building Program 

Rockingham County Project Shell Building 

Craven County Industrial Park 

Mebane - North Carolina Industrial Center (NCIC) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As with most development projects, there are risks associated with entering into a public-private partnership. Private 
developers will require some financial incentive in exchange for the risk they are taking on by developing the property thus 
reducing the potential return on investment for the City and generating private profits. Further, project oversight is limited 
to the benchmarks placed in the development agreement as negotiated with the Developer that is selected for the 
contract. In addition, the Developer selected may not be the lowest bid since the RFQ process aims to select the best 
qualified candidate rather than solely based on pricing. Finally, there is the potential for the property to not be immediately 
purchased or leased (depending on the terms of the Development Agreement).  

 

Cost Estimate 

After speaking with a local developer the average cost for an Industrial Spec Building in Alamance County is between $40-
$50 per square foot (depending on site work). For a building ranging from 100,000-150,000 square feet the cost on the low 
end is in the range of $4,000,000-$6,000,000 or on the high end $5,000,000 to $7,500,000.  

Page 24 of 101 Page 24 of 101



STAFF REPORT

SUBJECT: ORDINANCE TO DEMOLISH- 323 ALBRIGHT AVE. 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approval of Ordinance from City Council to demolish vacant house at 323 Albright Avenue. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

City of Graham staff is seeking authorization to proceed with the demolition 
of a vacant house located at 323 Albright Avenue. According to Alamance 
County tax records, the property is owned by James K. & Annie S. Jernigan, 
C/O Kay Hall and the structure is approximately 1680 SF. As seen in the 
attached exhibits, the property owner was originally contacted by the 
Inspections and Zoning department on October 25, 2017 by mail based on a 
complaint that a dilapidated house was located on the property. Staff 
maintained communication with the property owner over the next several 
months to monitor the status of the abatement. 

After further deterioration and a lack of progress, the property owner was 
given a timeframe to have the structure demolished. After several attempts to 
remedy the complaint were unsuccessful, it was determined by the Chief Building Inspector that an Order to Demolish 
be issued. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The estimated cost from contractors to demolish the structure is approximately $7,000. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION :  

Approval.  This structure has been inspected and deemed unfit for human habitation and poses a health risk to the 
community. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to approve the Ordinance authorizing City staff to proceed with the demolition of the vacant structure located 
at 323 Albright Avenue.  

Page 25 of 101 Page 25 of 101



AN ORDINANCE REQUIRING DEMOLITION OF A CERTAIN DWELLING OWNED BY JAMES K & ANNIE S JERNIGAN, 
C/O KAY HALL, AND PERSONS WITH INTEREST IN THE DWELLING LOCATED AT 323 ALBRIGHT AVE, GPIN 
8884352683, GRAHAM, ALAMANCE COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA  

BE IT ORDAINED by the Governing Body of the City of Graham, Alamance County, North Carolina as 
follows:  

Pursuant to North Carolina General Statute 160A-441 et. seq. and the General Ordinances of the City of 
Graham, Alamance County, North Carolina, Chapter 3 Division 1 et. seq., the Chief Code Enforcement Officer for 
the City of Graham, Alamance County, North Carolina, as authorized by the Governing Body of the City of Graham, 
Alamance County, North Carolina, has determined that a certain dwelling owned by James K. & Annie S. Jernigan, 
C/O Kay Hall and persons with interest in the dwelling located at 323 Albright Avenue in the City of Graham, does 
not meet the minimum housing code of the State of North Carolina and the City of Graham, North Carolina, and, 
therefore, said dwelling, pursuant to the laws of the State of North Carolina and the General Ordinances of the 
City of Graham, North Carolina, should be demolished. That dwelling is described as the dwelling located at 323 
Albright Avenue in the City of Graham, and further described and identified as that dwelling located on Parcel ID 
146518 and GPIN 8884352683, in the records Alamance County Tax Office.  

The findings of the Chief Code Enforcement Officer, James L. Lloyd, duly authorized Building Inspector for 
the City of Graham, Alamance County, North Carolina, herein referred to as the "Public Officer" and other related 
correspondence regarding disposition of this dwelling is attached hereto as Exhibits "A through N", and 
incorporated herein by reference.  

NOW, THEREFORE, inasmuch as James L. Lloyd, duly authorized Chief Code Enforcement Officer for the 
City of Graham, Alamance County, North Carolina, has determined that the dwelling in question is unfit for human 
habitation, the "Public Officer" is hereby authorized by the City Council of the City of Graham, Alamance County, 
North Carolina to proceed by causing said dwelling to be demolished and removed from the premises.  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, that a copy of the Ordinance be recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds 
of Alamance County, North Carolina and be indexed in the name of James K. & Annie S. Jernigan, C/O Kay Hall, in 
the granter index. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the amount of the cost of demolition and removal of the dwelling by the 
"Public Officer" shall be a lien against the real property upon which the cost was incurred, which lien shall be filed, 
have the same priority, and be collected as a lien for special assessments as provided in Article 10 of North 
Carolina General Statute 160A. 

 

This the 8th day of January, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. 

 

        ________________________________ 

         Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

Attest: 

 

Page 26 of 101 Page 26 of 101



___________________________ 

Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

 

NORTH CAROLINA 

ALAMANCE COUNTY 

 

 

 I, _______________________________, a Notary Public, do hereby certify that 
____________________________, City Clerk, personally appeared before me this day and acknowledged the due 
execution of the foregoing certification, for the purposes therein expressed. 

  

 WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this _______day of _________________, 2019. 

 

        

________________________________ 

        Notary Public 

 

 

My Commission Expires: ____________________________ 

Page 27 of 101 Page 27 of 101



Page 28 of 101 Page 28 of 101



Page 29 of 101 Page 29 of 101



Page 30 of 101 Page 30 of 101



Page 31 of 101 Page 31 of 101



Page 32 of 101 Page 32 of 101



Page 33 of 101 Page 33 of 101



Page 34 of 101 Page 34 of 101



Page 35 of 101 Page 35 of 101



Page 36 of 101 Page 36 of 101



Page 37 of 101 Page 37 of 101



Page 38 of 101 Page 38 of 101



Page 39 of 101 Page 39 of 101



Page 40 of 101 Page 40 of 101



Page 41 of 101 Page 41 of 101



Number Firm/Individual Hours per week Annual Rate Notes
1 The Brough Law Firm Proposal #1 16 105,000$                
2 The Brough Law Firm Proposal #2 as needed at $190.00 per hour 100,000$                 Not to exceed $100,000
3 Robert C. Giles 16 79,040$                  
4 Sara M. Farnsworth (Initial) 10‐40 56,920$                   Rate based on 40 hours plus benefits but excludes supervising attorney
5 Sara M. Farnsworth (Final) 40 85,000$                   Includes benefits but excludes 2‐year salary review
6 Ward‐Coleman 16 78,000$                  
7 Thomas D. Carruthers 20 120,000$                 Minimum of 20 hours and Maximum cost of $120,000 that includes benefits
8 Amelia M. Knauff 16 76,800$                   Beyond 16 hours at $120 per hour
9 Jeffrey A. Taylor undisclosed undisclosed

Attorney Proposal Summary

Page 42 of 101 Page 42 of 101



Page 43 of 101 Page 43 of 101



Page 44 of 101 Page 44 of 101



Page 45 of 101 Page 45 of 101



Page 46 of 101 Page 46 of 101



Page 47 of 101 Page 47 of 101



Page 48 of 101 Page 48 of 101



Page 49 of 101 Page 49 of 101



Page 50 of 101 Page 50 of 101



Page 51 of 101 Page 51 of 101



Page 52 of 101 Page 52 of 101



Page 53 of 101 Page 53 of 101



Page 54 of 101 Page 54 of 101



Page 55 of 101 Page 55 of 101



Page 56 of 101 Page 56 of 101



Page 57 of 101 Page 57 of 101



Page 58 of 101 Page 58 of 101



Page 59 of 101 Page 59 of 101



Page 60 of 101 Page 60 of 101



Page 61 of 101 Page 61 of 101



Page 62 of 101 Page 62 of 101



Page 63 of 101 Page 63 of 101



Page 64 of 101 Page 64 of 101



Page 65 of 101 Page 65 of 101



Page 66 of 101 Page 66 of 101



Page 67 of 101 Page 67 of 101



Page 68 of 101 Page 68 of 101



Page 69 of 101 Page 69 of 101



Page 70 of 101 Page 70 of 101



Page 71 of 101 Page 71 of 101



Page 72 of 101 Page 72 of 101



Page 73 of 101 Page 73 of 101



Page 74 of 101 Page 74 of 101



 

 

SARA M. FARNSWORTH 
208 Oak Tree Drive, Chapel Hill, NC 27517  •  (336) 686-6240  •  sarafarn@live.unc.edu 
 
 
Tuesday, December 11, 2018 
 
 
Dear Mayor Peterman and Esteemed Members of the City Council:  
 
I am excited to learn that the Council is contemplating the course it might pursue upon the retirement of your 
trusted longtime City Attorney. I respectfully request your consideration for the role. 
 
As a law student nearing graduation from UNC School of Law, I have found that I am following a different 
path than that of other students of my caliber. While most of my North Carolina Law Review colleagues have 
sought job offers with large law firms in large cities, my goal is to live and work in a smaller city with a higher 
quality of life and lower cost of living. I have a passion for government and would prefer to work on the local 
level where I believe “good government” can do the most good—where those representing government are 
able to operate out of a shared fondness for a community they each call home and to tailor governmental 
solutions as narrowly as possible to its particular needs. 
 
I understand that a decision to hire a newly-minted lawyer as the City Attorney of Graham may be a novel 
one. My lack of experience can be balanced against the cost savings the city might enjoy by offering an entry-
level salary to secure a full-time employee who could focus exclusively on protecting the interests of the 
city—without that role operating in tension with the time demands of private practice or the duty of loyalty 
to other clients or municipalities. As Graham continues its vibrant growth and development through the 
astute leadership of its City Council and the diligent work of its employees, the need for an attorney’s day-to-
day availability will only increase. A full-time City Attorney would allow for more effective decision-making 
on the part of city officials that could prevent expensive legal missteps and allow the city to more efficiently 
pursue its interests in areas such as code enforcement, tax collection, zoning violations, and planning. 
 
I bring to the table a substantial work history in the private sector and in the area of legal research, as well as a 
maturity level not shared by many entry-level attorneys. As a top-tier student attending a competitive law 
school on a scholarship, my particular talents lie in efficient legal research and effective communication of 
complex legal analysis. I learn new legal topics extremely quickly and explain them easily to others. My current 
job with UNC’s law library requires me to rapidly acquaint myself with an ever-changing variety of novel 
areas of law. My work in providing on-the-spot legal reference answers, high-stakes client support, and 
accessible training for technical topics puts me at ease with the role of readily answering any legal questions 
that come my way. I have also spent my summers during law school viewing the legal system from the inside 
via prestigious positions serving North Carolina judges, researching answers to complex legal quandaries that 
come before the courts and drafting some of their judicial opinions behind the scenes. 
 
I would honestly consider the Graham City Attorney position to be a “dream job” and would approach it 
with the same passion and energy that you as a City Council have seen in the very finest of your city’s 
employees. I would be honored to count myself among them. I appreciate your consideration of the attached 
proposal and resume. Thank you for your time, and please feel welcome to contact me at any time to discuss 
this further. 
 

Warm regards, 

 
Sara M. Farnsworth 

Page 75 of 101 Page 75 of 101



 

 

SARA M. FARNSWORTH 
208 Oak Tree Drive, Chapel Hill, NC 27517  •  (336) 686-6240  •  sarafarn@live.unc.edu 
 

 
 
Proposal for Employment as Legal Intern and City Attorney of Graham, North Carolina 

 
 
Preliminary Legal Internship 
 
Length of Internship: February 2019 through September 2019 (ending upon bar admission).  
Desired Salary: $20 hourly 
Desired Hours: 10-20 hours per week (as elected by the City Council) from beginning of employment until 
July 31, 2019 (after administration of the bar exam). Beginning August 1, 2019, 10-40 hours per week (as 
elected by City Council).  
 
From the commencement of employment (expected February 2019) until my admission to the State Bar of 
North Carolina (expected early September 2019), I would be employable by the City of Graham as a Legal 
Intern under state regulations codified at 27 N.C.A.C 01C .0200. The regulations would allow for me to fulfill 
virtually all of the capacities of an attorney as a legal intern, including giving legal advice to the city and 
representing the city in court and administrative hearings, provided that (1) the city consents to the 
representation, and (2) an active member of the North Carolina State Bar (who has practiced full-time for at 
least two years) serves as my supervising attorney. My hope is that Keith Whited would be open to the role of 
serving as my supervising attorney, and my suggestion to the City Council would be that he retain the title of 
City Attorney during the period of my internship and be available on a contract hourly basis to “read, 
approve, and personally sign” any pleadings, papers, contracts, or other documents prepared by me prior to 
their filing or execution. 27 N.C.A.C. 01C .0205(a)(5). It is also permissible for another practicing licensed 
attorney to be appointed as my supervisor. 
 
 
 
City Attorney Appointment 
 
Desired Starting Salary: $65,000 yearly as a full-time employee of the City of Graham 
 
After admission to the North Carolina State Bar (expected early September 2019), I would be eligible to 
represent Graham as its City Attorney. I believe that the requested salary is commensurate with entry-level 
salaries for many government attorney jobs in North Carolina, yet much lower than the salaries generally 
commanded by full-time City Attorneys in the state. I have not found a statewide compendium of City 
Attorney salaries, but the proposed salary is well below that of any full-time County Attorney in North 
Carolina according to a survey by the UNC School of Government 
(https://www.sog.unc.edu/publications/reports/county-salaries-north-carolina-2018).  
 
I project that two years after my appointment as City Attorney, I would seek a pay raise of approximately 
25% to reflect my status as an experienced City Attorney and my desire to remain in service to the City of 
Graham for the duration of my legal career.  

Page 76 of 101 Page 76 of 101



 

 

SARA M. FARNSWORTH 
208 Oak Tree Drive, Chapel Hill, NC 27517  •  (336) 686-6240  •  sarafarn@live.unc.edu
 

EDUCATION
 
 

University of North Carolina School of Law, Chapel Hill, North Carolina 
Juris Doctor, expected May 2019 
GPA: 3.64; Recipient of merit-based scholarship 
Online Content Editor, North Carolina Law Review 
Honors Writing Scholar; Academic Excellence Program Group Leader 
 
North Carolina Central University, Durham, North Carolina 
Master of Library Science, May 2012 
GPA: 4.0; Summa cum Laude 
 
University of Southern Mississippi, Hattiesburg, Mississippi 
Bachelor of Arts, History, August 2007 
GPA: 3.26; Honors College; Recipient of Presidential Scholarship and National Merit Scholarship 
 
SELECTED EXPERIENCE

 

Kathrine R. Everett Law Library, University of North Carolina School of Law  
Chapel Hill, North Carolina 
Graduate Assistant, July 2018–present 
� Complete advanced legal research projects for law school faculty. 
� Create and maintain legal research guides in areas such as privacy and international law. 
� Provide on-the-spot reference services and research assistance to students, lawyers, and 

others. 
 

Honorable Benjamin Kahn, Middle District of North Carolina Bankruptcy Court 
Greensboro, North Carolina 
Judicial Extern, May–June 2018  
� Conducted legal research, assisted with editing judgments and other documents, and 

prepared documents for the judge’s reference during court sessions. 
� Created documents and forms to help court personnel and attorneys follow court procedures. 

 
Professor Anne Klinefelter, University of North Carolina School of Law  
Chapel Hill, North Carolina 
Research Assistant, June–July 2017 
� Conducted and synthesized research on topics concerning privacy law.  

 
Erdős Intellectual Property Law Firm 
Winston-Salem, North Carolina 
Summer Clinic Intern, May–July 2017  
� Completed client projects in areas of copyright, trademark, social media, and contract law. 
  

Honorable Lucy Inman, North Carolina Court of Appeals 
Raleigh, North Carolina 
Judicial Extern, May–June 2017  
� Drafted and edited judicial opinions, wrote legal memoranda, and conducted legal research. 

Page 77 of 101 Page 77 of 101



 

 

 
Surpass Software LLC 
Greensboro, North Carolina / Orlando, Florida  
Director of Training and Support, September 2003–August 2016 
� Trained and supervised client support team members for a firm specializing in library 

software. 
� Designed web-based training curriculum for clients and taught all seminars. 
� Wrote and edited product documentation and training articles for technicians and end users. 
� Provided direct product support to clients including IT managers, administrators, and 

librarians. 
� Repaired and recovered client databases in the event of corruption or database malfunction. 
� Developed customized software solutions to handle importing and merging of client data. 
� Advised head software developer on major product design decisions based on client needs. 

 
Cook Library, University of Southern Mississippi 
Hattiesburg, Mississippi 
Information Services Library Assistant, May 2002–May 2003 
� Assisted library patrons with accessing library services and performing research. 
� Provided accessibility services to enable patrons with disabilities to access library resources 

and perform independent research. 
� Supervised in-library computer lab composed of dozens of computer workstations, a print 

server, several large network printers, and copy machines, and assisted patrons in their use.  
 
SunBridge, Inc. 
Hattiesburg, Mississippi / Windermere, Florida  
Editor/Proofreader and Website Administrator, August 2002–June 2003 
� Edited and proofread instructional materials and full-length books for a consultancy firm 

serving legal and financial professionals. 
� Designed, published, and maintained company website. 

 
Law Firm of Johnson, Tyler, and Purvis 
Hattiesburg, Mississippi / Washington, DC 
Researcher, Supervisor, and Recruiter, July–December 2001 
� Performed research at the University of Southern Mississippi Libraries for a Washington, 

DC-based firm, using a systematic approach requiring fastidious organization and attention 
to detail. 

� Recruited, trained, and led student researchers, serving as firm’s sole on-campus 
representative. 

� Periodically assembled research findings and employee records and delivered them to the 
firm.  

 
PERSONAL PURSUITS 
 

Classical violinist • Historic preservationist • Sustainable gardener • Certified Beer Judge 

Page 78 of 101 Page 78 of 101



Page 79 of 101 Page 79 of 101



Page 80 of 101 Page 80 of 101



Page 81 of 101 Page 81 of 101



 

 

 

 

 

Proposal and Qualifications for  

City Attorney Services for 

Graham, North Carolina 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Submitted by: 

        Thomas D. Carruthers 

336-908-3022 

tc@carruthersgso.com 

        December 31, 2018 

  

Page 82 of 101 Page 82 of 101



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

 

1. Biography ............................................................................3 

 

2. Proposal ...............................................................................4 

 

3. Qualifications .....................................................................5 

 

4. References  ..........................................................................8 

 

5. Letters of Recommendation ...........................................9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83 of 101 Page 83 of 101



 

 

Biography 
 

 
 

Thomas D. Carruthers is a seasoned attorney with more than twenty years legal experience and 

nine years municipal experience. He has most recently served four years as the Greensboro City 

Attorney. He possesses extensive experience representing and advising city government, elected 

officials, senior administrators and multiple municipal departments. 

He demonstrates experience in civil litigation, representing municipalities as plaintiffs or 

defendants. Carruthers provides legal oversight for city operations in support of economic 

development, financial and administrative services, human resources, water resources, city 

planning, neighborhood development, information technology, zoning, housing, contracting, 

collections and law enforcement.  He drafts municipal ordinances and legal contracts and 

reviews proposals and agreements. He advises on open meetings laws and public records 

requests. 

He is a capable and confident negotiator with demonstrated success assessing and mitigating risk 

while enabling collaboration and cooperation between other local government entities, diverse 

constituent groups and individuals. Carruthers is an effective communicator and a “people 

person.” 

Before joining the City of Greensboro, Carruthers served as an assistant district attorney with the 

18th judicial district in Guilford County. He was a principal in the law firm of Alspaugh and 

Carruthers, LLP where he pursued a civil litigation and real estate practice.  One of his first legal 

positions was in Graham, NC, on the square, with the law firm of Latham and Wood, P.A. 

Carruthers has his law degree from Campbell University and his undergraduate degree from 

Duke University.  He completed the UNC School of Government Municipal Administration 

course.  He has spoken at several Wake Forest Law School and UNC SOG seminars.   Carruthers 

serves as a member of the Board of Directors for the Association of Municipal Attorneys. 

 

  

Page 84 of 101 Page 84 of 101



Proposal 
 

Thomas D. Carruthers proposes to serve as the Graham City Attorney for a minimum of 20 hours 

per week, 1000 hours per year, for a maximum cost to the City of $120,000.00.  

 

Carruthers will advise the Mayor, City Council, the City Manager and other city officials with 

respect to legal affairs of the City.  He will coordinate with the insurance defense counsel 

retained by the City of Graham and will also serve as a litigator, as counsel for plaintiff or 

defendant, for the interests of the City in appropriate circumstances.  He will draft all legal 

documents relating to the affairs of the city and will review as to form and approve agreements, 

contracts, franchises and other instruments for the City.  He will attend all City Council meetings 

and other relevant meetings of boards or commissions as directed by the Council or requested by 

the Manager.  The City Council will retain the authority to employ other legal counsel from time 

to time, in addition to the City Attorney, as may be necessary to adequately handle the legal 

affairs of the City. 

 

Carruthers will serve as an employee of the City.  Associated employee costs in the estimated 

amount of 30% shall be deducted from the total maximum cost to the City and Carruthers shall 

be paid a salary of approximately $80,000.00 to $85,000.00 per year. The salary will be set after 

the costs of tax withholding, insurance, retirement, and related costs are deducted.  He will be an 

exempt employee and will work in the City offices a minimum of 1000 hours annually, two to 

three days per week. He will make himself available to the City Council, City Manager and 

relevant city personnel on an “as necessary” basis and will respond in a reasonable fashion to all 

phone, text or email contacts by City Council and the City Manager. Total costs to the City for 

Carruthers’ employment as City Attorney will not exceed $120,000.00. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85 of 101 Page 85 of 101



Qualifications of Thomas D. Carruthers 
 

336.908.3022 Greensboro, North Carolina 

TC@Carruthersgso.com www.linkedin.com/in/thomas-carruthers-508974105/ 

Professional Competencies 

• Advising Elected Officials, City Management 

• Legal Analysis, Direction and Counsel 

• Civil Litigation 

• Strategic Planning and Implementation  

• Legislative Lobbying 

• Economic Development Enablement 

• Client and Community Relations 

• Intergovernmental Negotiation 

• Maintaining Regulatory Compliance 

• Open Meetings Law  

• Public Records Management 

• Public Contracting 

 

Public Service 

City Attorney October 2014 – October 2018 

City of Greensboro Greensboro, NC 

Interim City Attorney March 2014 – October 2014 

Manager of legal affairs for the state’s third-largest city. Provided critical legal guidance to the Mayor, City 

Council, and City Manager across numerous practice areas. Served as a key strategic planner, advisor and 

liaison. Coordinated closely with City Manager, senior administrators and department heads to implement the 

Manager’s vision and directives of the City Council. Managed departmental legal resources including seven 

staff attorneys, five paralegals and assigned administrative staff. 

Developed and implemented legal strategies for the City. Responsible for determining and overseeing best use 

of both in-house and outside counsel to represent the interests of the City in litigation and other legal matters. 

Researched complex legal issues. Drafted, analyzed, and reviewed legal opinions for City Council. Issued 

advisory opinions. Litigated on behalf of the City. 

Acted as the City's legislative liaison, coordinating adoption of the City’s legislative agenda with members of 

the local delegation of the North Carolina General Assembly and other members of the legislature. Provided 

legislative analysis to members of the City Council and City senior staff. 

Accomplishments: 

• Revised solicitation ordinance in compliance with the 2015 US Supreme Court decision in Reed. 

• Drafted charter language for a public referendum to change length of term of office for Mayor and 

members of the City Council, resulting in voter endorsement of the proposed changes.  

• Directed successful litigation in response to the General Assembly revising the electoral process of the 

City Council and redistricting the City; prevailed at trial, permitting the new terms of service for Mayor 

and City Council members to take effect following the 2017 election.  

• Submitted and successfully lobbied for adoption of local legislation. 

Page 86 of 101 Page 86 of 101

mailto:TC@Carruthersgso.com


• Coordinated with state, county and local officials to assist in the creation of the Greensboro-Randolph 

Megasite. Directed multicounty condemnation efforts to deliver City water and sewer to the site. 

• Drafted and implemented City’s new public record policy and procedure to comply with state law, 

improve transparency and bolster defense of City. 

• Advised on body worn camera policy for Greensboro Police Department. 

 

Assistant City Attorney August 2009 – March 2014 

City of Greensboro Greensboro, NC 

Supported City departments in contract matters and litigation. Served as primary advisor for Greensboro Board 

of Adjustment, Planning Board, Zoning Commission, Fair Housing and Historic Commission. 

Managed revisions to inter-local agreements with Guilford County regarding tax collection, animal control, 

library funding and dissolution of the City and County Water and Sewer Trust Fund. 

Assistant District Attorney February 2006 – August 2009 

18th Judicial District Guilford County, NC 

Served as District Court Manager supervising five Assistant District Attorneys. Managed the District Court 

Domestic Violence Program, prosecuting domestic violence litigation, working with victims and witness 

coordinators. Secured grant funding for an additional domestic violence support staffer through the Governor’s 

Crime Commission. 

Private Practice 

 
Associate June 2004 – January 2006  

Henson & Henson, LLP Greensboro, NC 

Litigated in personal injury and insurance defense. 

Partner June 1992 – May 2004 

Alspaugh & Carruthers, LLP * Greensboro, NC  

Litigated in personal injury, worker’s compensation, medical malpractice and domestic relations. Represented 

individuals and businesses in commercial contracts, real estate purchases, non-profit incorporation, and 

entertainment law. Served several non-profit corporations on a pro bono basis. Practice management activities 

included supervising junior attorneys, paralegals, and other support staff; maintaining billing, payroll, and 

accounting systems and litigation software. 

(*One of three names this partnership operated under over 12 years.) 

Associate March 1990 – May 1992 

Latham, Wood, P.A. Graham, NC 

Litigated in personal injury, domestic relations and criminal defense. 

  

Page 87 of 101 Page 87 of 101



Education and Credentials 

Juris Doctor 

Campbell University – Buies Creek, North Carolina 

Second Place in Oral Advocacy, Jessup International Law Regional Competition 

Member, Moot Court Team, Delta Theta Phi Law, International Law Society 

 

Bachelor of Arts in Political Science 

Duke University – Durham, North Carolina 

Member, Phi Kappa Psi 

Professional Training 

Municipal Administration Course, University of North Carolina School of Government 

Professional Memberships 

Greensboro Bar Association, 18th Judicial Bar,  

The North Carolina State Bar  

Member of Board of Directors for the Association of Municipal Attorneys. 

Licensure 

North Carolina State Bar # 13447 

 

***Proficient in Microsoft Office and Legal Files case management software. 

 

Mentoring and Community Commitment 
 

Supervised the Elon Law School Extern Development Program for City of Greensboro, which has provided 

academic credit for over 15 law students who worked in the City Attorney’s Office. 

One of the Founding members of the “Thrive Greensboro” initiative that identifies individuals who qualify for 

expungement of their criminal record. Coordinated with Greensboro Bar Association and the Greensboro 

Office of Legal Aid to train attorneys to provide pro bono legal representation for these individuals. Through 

this program, the office of the City Attorney assisted in 30 expungements. 

Recognized by the Greensboro Bar Association on October 18, 2018 for “Outstanding Pro Bono Services.” 

Speaker at Wake Forest University School of Law School municipal seminars and UNC School of 

Government seminars. 

  

Page 88 of 101 Page 88 of 101



References 
  
Nancy Vaughan  

Mayor, City of Greensboro  

P.O. Box 3136 Greensboro, NC 27402-3136  

336-373-2396  

nancy.vaughan@greensboro-nc.gov  

  

Yvonne Johnson  

Mayor Pro Tem, City of Greensboro  

P.O. Box 3136 Greensboro, NC 27402-3136  

336-255-3060  

yvonne.johnson@greensboro-nc.gov  

  

Jim Westmoreland  

Former Greensboro City Manager  

1108 Mosley Road Greensboro, NC 27455  

336-420-4411  

jimwestmorelandjr@gmail.com  

  

Michael Fox  

Chairman, North Carolina Board of Transportation  

Tuggle Duggins, P.A.  

100 N. Greene Street, Suite 600 Greensboro, NC 27401  

336-271-5244  

mfox@tuggleduggins.com  

  

Alan Duncan  

North Carolina State Board of Education, District 7  

Mullins Duncan Harrell & Russell, PLLC  

300 N. Greene Street, Suite 200 Greensboro, NC 27401  

336-645-3320  

aduncan@turningpointlit.com  

  

Jim Melvin  

Joseph M. Bryan Foundation  

324 W. Wendover Ave. Suite 207 Greensboro, NC 27408-8438  

336-691-9803  

jim.melvin@aol.com  

  

Donald R. Vaughan  

Donald R. Vaughan & Associates  

612 W. Friendly Ave. Greensboro, NC 27401  

336-273-1415  

Don.Vaughan@Vaughanlaw.com  

Page 89 of 101 Page 89 of 101



Letters of Recommendation 

 

 

Page 90 of 101 Page 90 of 101



 

 

Page 91 of 101 Page 91 of 101



 

Page 92 of 101 Page 92 of 101



– End of Document – 

Page 93 of 101 Page 93 of 101



    
 
 
 

 
 
 

Proposal to Provide 
Legal Services for the City of 

Graham, North Carolina 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amelia M. Knauff, Esq. 
Private Attorney 

 

Ameliamknauff@gmail.com 
 
 

December 31, 2018 
  

Page 94 of 101 Page 94 of 101

mailto:Ameliamknauff@gmail.com


Overview 
 

In response to the City of Graham’s request for proposals for City Attorney services, I am 
pleased to offer my submission. I propose that I, Amelia M. Knauff, serve as the City Attorney. I 
understand that the City of Graham (the “City”) seeks an attorney that is both cost effective and 
capable. I am confident that I am able to fulfill both of these needs. In order to provide the City 
with unsurpassed legal services, I am prepared to leave my present position and plan to work 
exclusively for the City of Graham. This means the City will have my undivided time and I will 
be able to work on pressing matters immediately. While I have no previous involvement 
working as municipal attorney, I have significant trial experience and excellent communication 
skills. Additionally, I am adept in legal writing. I am a trustworthy, diligent and efficient 
employee. I learn quickly and am eager to delve into the realm of municipal law.  
 
Background 
 

A. Contact Information 
 

Amelia Knauff     Phone: 336-512-4228 
902 Sunset Drive    Email: Ameliamknauff@gmail.com 
Graham, NC 27253 

 
B. Experience 

 
For fourteen years, I have been a member in good standing of the North Carolina 

State Bar. First, as a Prosecutor and currently, as a Magistrate Judge, I have faithfully served 
the citizens of this State. As a result, Criminal Law is the forum of the legal field with which 
I am most familiar. My time as a prosecutor accounts for most of my courtroom knowledge. 
In that position, I was in District Court virtually every day and handled between 50 and 400 
cases daily. I became efficient at multitasking and skilled at handling negotiations with other 
attorneys and the general public. I was not intimidated by having trials when necessary and 
as a result am an accomplished litigator. Being a magistrate has given me additional 
experience in the criminal realm. It is a position that holds significant power and I have 
performed my duties with honesty, compassion and professionalism. My time as a 
magistrate has improved my assertiveness and enhanced my communication skills.  

 
While limited in scope, I have experience in various other areas of legal practice. 

During Law School, I participated in the Juvenile Law Clinic and the Alternative Dispute 
Resolution (ADR) Clinic offered by North Carolina Central. The skills I learned during these 
clinics, in particular, those acquired through the ADR clinic will serve me well should the 
City of Graham choose to implement this proposal. The ADR clinic allowed me to volunteer 
as a mediator, to observe arbitration hearings and to practice legal negotiations with fellow 
students. The abilities obtained through these activities are invaluable and are ones I use not 
only professionally but also personally. In addition, through drafting various documents 
during my tenure as a prosecutor as well as by writing legal briefs for an immigration firm, I 
have become an excellent legal writer. I am confident the knowledge I have gained through 
these experiences will help me to be exceptional as the next Attorney for the City of 
Graham.  

Page 95 of 101 Page 95 of 101

mailto:Ameliamknauff@gmail.com


C. Education and Other Qualifications

• Member of the North Carolina State Bar, 2004-present: Bar Number 32786
• NCCU School of Law, Juris Doctorate, 2004
• UNC-Greensboro, Bachelor of Arts in Sociology, 2000
• 14 Years of Legal Experience: (3.5 as a Prosecutor for Alamance County, 10.5

as a Magistrate Judge for Alamance County)
• Admitted to practice in all North Carolina State Courts

Cost Submittal 

The proposal request indicated that the city was seeking an attorney for approximately 
16 hours per week. As I intend to leave my current employment, my proposal allows for eighty 
hours per month with a non-refundable monthly retainer of $6,400.00. This is the equivalent of 
$80.00 per hour for retainer work and totals $76,800 per year. Any additional work will be billed 
at the rate of $120.00 per hour. However, I do not anticipate exceeding the retainer each month. 
The retainer includes: 

• Attendance at City Council meetings
• Providing routine legal advice, telephone and personal consultations with the

City Manager and Staff
• Drafting memos, complaints and other legal documents
• Providing legal services to City agencies such as the Police Department, Fire

Department and Utility Agencies
• Handling Title Examinations
• Set office hours (to be agreed upon by the City and myself)
• Litigation services (in certain instances outside counsel may need to be retained)
• Other services (to be agreed upon by the City and myself)

If this cost submittal is not satisfactory, I would be willing to discuss other arrangements that 
are acceptable to the City. In particular, I would consider a salaried position with benefits.  

Conclusion 

It would be an honor to serve the City of Graham in the capacity of City Attorney. If you 
require any additional information please contact me by phone (336)512-4228 or by 
email ameliamknauff@gmail.com. Thank you for your consideration.  

Page 96 of 101 Page 96 of 101

mailto:ameliamknauff@gmail.com


References 
 
Mrs. Candace Sappington    Lt. Tony Velez 
Shamrock Nutrition     Graham Police Department 
146 S. Main Street     216 S. Maple Street 
Graham, NC 27253     Graham, NC 27253 
Cell (336)266-4378     Cell (336)2120728 
 
 
Hon. Meredith Edwards    Hon. Larry Brown 
Clerk of Court of Alamance County   District Court Judge   
1 Court Square      212 West Elm Street 
Graham, NC 27253     Graham, NC 27253  
Cell (919)428-6779     Cell (336)708-4908 
 
 
Mrs. Cristina Kaplan, Esq.    Mrs. Pat Thomas  
Steele-Kaplan Law Offices    1179 Noah Rd 
407 N. Lincoln Avenue    Graham, NC 27253 
Suite 110      Cell (336)212-0638 
Loveland, Colorado 80537 
Cell (985)788-6356 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

*Additional references and resume available upon request* 

Page 97 of 101 Page 97 of 101



311-B South Cedar Street

Lincolnton, North Carolina 28092 

January 1, 2019 

Ms. Darcy Sperry 

City Clerk 

City of Graham 

P. O. Drawer 357 

Graham, North Carolina 27253 

Re: City Attorney position 

City of Graham, North Carolina 

Dear Ms. Sperry: 

I am a licensed North Carolina attorney with 31 years of experience, nearly 19 of which have 

involved primarily government practice, and I believe that I am well qualified for the position of 

City Attorney for the City of Graham. Such a position demands someone with varied experience 

in governmental practice, and as my resume (submitted herewith) indicates, I have obtained such 

a breadth of experience in my years of representing local government. I served as the County 

Attorney for Lincoln County, North Carolina, for over 12 years and as Assistant County 

Attorney for six years prior to that. At various times during my tenure, I have advised nearly 

every government board and agency in Lincoln County, and I have represented them in forums 

ranging from District and Superior Courts in Lincoln County to the State’s appellate courts, 

administrative bodies such as the Office of Administrative Hearings and the EEOC, and the 

federal courts, including U. S. District Court and U. S. Bankruptcy Court. I also served as legal 

counsel to the Lincoln County Sheriff.   

Although a significant portion of my government practice has consisted of personnel issues, I 

have successfully advised and represented government bodies in a variety of matters, including 

economic development, contracts, land use and environmental regulations, tax matters, elections, 

and public records and open meetings issues. I represented the County in the negotiations for the 

purchase of the land where the Lincoln County Industrial Park is now located and advised the 

Lincoln Economic Development Association on preparation of covenants for the park property 

and agreements for economic incentives with the various industries that have located in the park. 

I advised the County on the drafting and implementation of a countywide zoning ordinance in 

the mid-1990s (and, more recently, a unified development ordinance) and have researched and 

drafted many codes, ordinances, policies, and regulations over the years. I have also negotiated 

Page 98 of 101 Page 98 of 101



and drafted intergovernmental agreements and represented my client in matters such as the 

disputed Catawba interbasin water transfer.  

 

Representing local government often requires application of legal principles from many areas of 

law outside the governmental realm. My government practice has frequently required me to draw 

on my experience in a great variety of other types of law, including domestic law, wills, estates, 

and real estate. Further, I have applied my private sector insurance defense background to 

negotiate successful resolutions of various types of claims, including tort and workers 

compensation issues.   

 

One of the most valuable lessons that I have learned in the area of government practice is that 

relationships with other professionals in this field are important. Accordingly, I have actively 

participated in the North Carolina Association of County Attorneys during my years in that 

position, and I have developed a number of excellent working relationships with my fellow 

government attorneys and with the faculty at the UNC School of Government and have learned 

that they are wonderful resources when troublesome questions arise.  

 

In addition to my work for Lincoln County, I have represented other governmental entities, 

including the East Lincoln County Water & Sewer District and Lincoln Charter School, and I 

have occasionally represented other local government entities in the area when their regular 

counsel had conflicts of interest and were unable to represent them in specific matters. Since I 

have worked as a private practice attorney and not as a full-time government employee, I have 

also represented private clients in a number of areas such as wills and trusts, probate, corporate 

practice, real estate, and general civil litigation. I have also received training as a mediator, 

which has given me valuable knowledge on which to draw in order to resolve legal issues for my 

clients.  

 

I am very interested in this position and would welcome the opportunity to discuss the position,  

my qualifications, and mutually agreeable terms. Please contact me by phone at (704) 740-5643 

or e-mail at jefftaylorlaw@outlook.com. I look forward to hearing from you. 

 

Yours very truly, 

 
Jeffrey A. Taylor 

 

Page 99 of 101 Page 99 of 101

mailto:jefftaylorlaw@outlook.com


Jeffrey A. Taylor 
311-B South Cedar Street, Lincolnton, North Carolina 28092 

(704) 740-5643 

jefftaylorlaw@outlook.com 

 

RELEVANT PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

 

Solo Private Practice of Law, Lincolnton, North Carolina 

Attorney (2012-present) 

 Maintained general civil law practice, including wills, estates, foreclosures,  and contracts 

 Represented clients in government, zoning, administrative, and traffic court matters 

 

Pendleton, Pendleton & Deaton, P. A., Lincolnton, North Carolina 

Attorney (1992-2012) 

 19 years of experience as County Attorney (1998-2011) and Assistant County Attorney 

(1992-98) on contract basis for Lincoln County 

 Represented county in various litigation, including health law matters, personnel, code 

enforcement, contract, animal control, personal injury, construction, planning, elections, 

bankruptcy, tax collection, and constitutional issues 

 Advised and defended local government entities in land use (including implementation of 

countywide zoning) and eminent domain matters 

 Advised and represented local boards on election law matters 

 Researched and certified real estate titles and advised on capital finance transactions 

(including $19 million bond transaction) 

 Monitored compliance with Open Meetings and Public Records Law requirements 

 Honored by Lincoln County Board of Commissioners for valuable service rendered 

during the search for a new county manager, March 2008 

 Served as counsel to East Lincoln County Water & Sewer District, Lincoln Charter 

School, and Lincoln County ABC Board 

 

Stott, Hollowell, Palmer & Windham, Gastonia, North Carolina 

Attorney (1987-92) 

 Five years of trial experience in an insurance defense practice 

 Successfully defended a variety of matters including auto negligence, premises liability, 

and workers compensation cases 

 

EDUCATION 

Wake Forest University School of Law, Winston-Salem, North Carolina 

Juris Doctor, 1987 

Page 100 of 101 Page 100 of 101



 

Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina 

Bachelor of Arts, cum laude (Major – Economics; Minor – History), 1984 

 

LICENSURE AND BAR ADMISSIONS 

North Carolina State Bar, 1987 – present 

Admitted to practice in all State courts and administrative bodies 

Admitted to practice in U. S. District Court, Western District of North Carolina 

 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS 

North Carolina Association of County Attorneys (1998-2011) (1
st
 Vice President 2010-11) 

North Carolina Bar Association (Member, Government Practice Section) 

Lincoln County and 27-B Judicial District Bar Associations 

American Bar Association 

 

COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES 

Helping Hands Health Clinic, co-founder, general counsel, and board member (2002-10) 

Boy Scouts of America, Heartland District Chairman & Piedmont Council Board (2006-09) 

Lincoln Cultural Center Board of Directors (2007 – present) (1
st
 Vice President 2013-present) 

Leadership Lincoln graduate 

Lincolnton Rotary Club (2001-13) 

Lincolnton Downtown Development Association Board of Directors (1996-99) 

 

 

Page 101 of 101 Page 101 of 101


	01-08-2019 Special Session
	1. Consent Agenda:
	a. Approval of Minutes - December 4, 2018 Regular Session
	b. Approval of Minutes - December 12, 2018 Special Session
	c. Tax Releases & Refunds
	d. Historical Museum Advisory Board Appointment

	2. Downtown Small Area Plan:
	a. Approve Contract with Toole Design Group

	3. Main Street Program Discussion
	4. Public Private Partnership (P3) – East Interstate Road Development:
	a. Approve Resolution Adopting Statement of Critical Need

	5. Order to Demolish:
	a. Approve Ordinance to Demolish - 323 Albright Avenue

	6. Review City Attorney Proposals
	Brough Law Firm Proposal
	Champion & Giles Proposal
	Sara Farnsworth Proposal
	Sara Farnsworth Resume
	Ward-Coleman Proposal
	Thomas Carruthers Proposal
	Amelia Knauff Proposal
	Jeffrey A Taylor Cover Letter
	Jeffrey A Taylor Resume

	7. Issues Not on Tonight’s Agenda




